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ESTABLISHING PROBABLE CAUSE FOR FORFEITURE
IN FEDERAL MONEY LAUNDERING CASES
STEFAN D. CASSELLA7

I. INTRODUCTION

The federal government may seize and subject to forfeiture any

"property involved in" a violation of the federal money laundering

statutes.1 This is a powerful law enforcement tool because the "property

involved in" a money laundering offense includes the money being

laundered and any property used to facilitate the offense. 2 Thus, if
someone launders proceeds of a crime by commingling them with other
property, or passing them through a legitimate business, the government

may subject to forfeiture not only the "dirty" money, that is, the criminal
proceeds being laundered, but also the "clean" money that was used to
hide the criminal proceeds, or the business that was used to make those
proceeds appear legitimate.3
* Deputy Director, Asset Forfeiture Office of the Criminal Division of the United
States Department of Justice. The views expressed in this article are solely those of the
author and do not necessarily reflect the policies or opinions of the Department of
Justice.
1. The civil forfeiture statute for money laundering is 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(A)
(Supp. V 1993) and its criminal counterpart is 18 U.S.C. § 982(a)(1) (Supp. V 1993).
The principal federal money laundering statutes are 18 U.S.C. §§ 1956, 1957 (1988 &
Supp. V 1993) and 31 U.S.C. § 5324 (Supp. V 1993).
2. See United States v. Certain Accounts, 795 F. Supp. 391, 396-97 (S.D. Fla.
1992); United States v. $477,048.62, 754 F. Supp. 1467, 1473 (D. Haw. 1991).
3. See United States v. Tencer, No. 92-570, 1993 WL 310527, at *3-*4 (E.D. La.
Aug. 11, 1993) (small amount of criminal proceeds deposited into account rendered the
entire balance forfeitable because the purpose of the deposit was to conceal criminal
proceeds among legitimate funds); United States v. Inventories of Khalife Bros. Jewelry
and Gold Corp., 806 F. Supp. 648, 650 (E.D. Mich. 1992) (allowing forfeiture of
personal property used to facilitate money laundering); United States v. Swank Corp.,
797 F. Supp. 497, 501 (E.D. Va. 1992) (money providing cover for laundering operation
could be seized); Certain Accounts, 795 F. Supp. at 397-98 (same); United States v.
Bank of N.Y. Account No. 01-0-71417, 769 F. Supp. 80, 84-85 (E.D.N.Y. 1991)
(same); United States v. 155 Bemis Rd., 760 F. Supp. 245, 251 (D.N.H. 1991) (business
involved in money laundering offense was forfeitable); United States v. South Side Fin.,
Inc., 755 F. Supp. 791, 797-98 (N.D. I1. 1991) (laundered money deposited into bank
account and passed through business rendered both the bank account and the business
forfeitable); $477,048.62, 754 F. Supp. at 1475-76 (legally acquired funds used to
conceal illegitimate funds were forfeitable).
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Money laundering forfeiture can be accomplished either civilly or
criminally. In a criminal case, the forfeiture allegation is set forth as a
count in the indictment, and forfeiture is imposed as part of the
defendant's sentence. 4 In fact, money laundering forfeiture is similar in
scope to forfeiture under the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt
Organizations statute, which permits criminal forfeiture of any "interest
in" a racketeering enterprise or any property "affording a source of
influence over" the enterprise. 5 Criminal forfeiture is thus an important
part of the array of penalties that may be imposed on a convicted money
launderer; however, criminal forfeiture is limited as a remedial tool for
two reasons: one, only the defendant's interest in the property involved in
the money laundering offense is forfeitable; and two, forfeiture is not
available when the money launderer is dead or is a fugitive, or where the
subject property belongs to a third person. For example, if money is
laundered by passing it through the accounts of a business, only the money
launderer's interest in the business is forfeitable in a criminal case. The
business assets that were used to conceal or disguise the money laundering
escape forfeiture unless the business itself is indicted and convicted. The
same is true if the money launderer uses the assets of his spouse, business
partner or other third party, even if the third party is a knowing
participant in the money laundering scheme.
In a civil forfeiture case, however, the government can subject to
forfeiture property involved in a money laundering offense even if the
owner of the property is not convicted of an offense. This is because civil
forfeiture is an in rem action that serves the remedial purpose of taking
criminally derived property, and property used to facilitate criminal
activity, "out of circulation." The government may seize the property of
a deceased or fugitive money launderer and bring an in rem action against
the property itself. It may do the same with respect to property held by
a third party, subject to the third party's ability to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that he had no knowledge of the money laundering
offense giving rise to the forfeiture of the property. 6 Thus, a person who
knowingly allows another to use his property to launder money, or who
knowingly acquires laundered funds, but who is not himself convicted of
money laundering, will forfeit his property.
4. 18 U.S.C. § 982(a) (Supp. V 1993).
5. 18 U.S.C. § 1963(a)(2) (1988).
6. The innocent owner statute for civil money laundering forfeiture is 18 U.S.C. §
981(a)(2) (1988). The statute states: "No property shall be forfeited under this section
to the extent of the interest of an owner or lienholder by reason of any act or omission
established by that owner or lenholder to have been committed without the knowledge
of that owner or lienholder." Id.
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In a civil forfeiture case, the government must initially establish that
there is probable cause that the property is subject to forfeiture. In money
laundering cases, the government must establish that probable cause exists
to believe that the property was "involved in" a money laundering offense.
Once probable cause is established, the burden shifts to the claimant to
prove an affirmative defense by a preponderance of the evidence. 7 Thus,
the showing of probable cause is an important burden-shifting device that
forces third-party claimants to establish a legitimate source for the
property or to prove they had no knowledge of the money laundering
activity. This procedure is particularly appropriate in cases involving
bank accounts because the claimant-account holder is in the best position
to decipher the record of complex financial transactions, know the source
of the money moving through the account, and identify the persons
controlling the transactions. 8
This article reviews the legislative history of the money laundering
forfeiture statutes and recent judicial decisions that have interpreted their
scope. It then offers a unifying interpretation of the phrase "property
involved in" that is consistent with the broad remedial purpose of the
statutes but which provides a basis for limiting the scope of the forfeiture
to avoid disproportionate results. Finally, this article discusses the type
of proof the government must offer to establish probable cause in typical
money laundering forfeiture cases and some of the legal issues that have
arisen in this context.
I. LEGIsLATIvE

HISTORY

As originally enacted, the Money Laundering Control Act of 19869
provided that only property representing the "gross receipts" of violations
of the principal money laundering statutes, was forfeitable.'"
The
legislative history stated that "gross receipts" meant "only the commission
7. 19 U.S.C. § 1615 (1988). See generally United States v. Accounts Maintained
at Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, 801 F. Supp. 984, 990-91 (E.D.N.Y. 1992)
(shifting the burden to claimant in civil forfeiture cases is constitutional), affld sub nom.
United States v. Daccarett, 6 F.3d 37 (2d Cir. 1993), cert. denied, 114 S. Ct. 1294
(1994).
8. See United States v. Banco Cafetero Pan., 797 F.2d 1154, 1161 (2d Cir. 1986)
("mhe risk of uncertainty in determining the traceability of proceeds of drug sales is
placed squarely on the claimant, once probable cause has been established.").
9. Pub. L. No. 99-570, § 1366, 100 Stat. 3207, 3235, 3239 (codified as amended
at 18 U.S.C. §§ 981(a)(1)(A), 982(a)(1) (Supp. V 1993)).
10. Id. § 1352, 100 Stat. at 3218, 3221 (codified as amended at 18 U.S.C. §§ 19561957 (1988 & Supp. V 1993)).
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earned by the money launderer ... and not the corpus laundered itself."1 1 Thus, in the case of property involved in Title 18 money
laundering offenses, the original statutes authorized the forfeiture only of
the property that the launderer was entitled to keep as his fee for his
laundering service, not the property he was given to launder. This
rendered §§ 981 and 982 virtually useless in cases involving § 1956 or §
1957 offenses, and there were few, if any, cases brought under these
sections in 1987 and 1988.
The original statute contained a provision stating that in the case of a
Title 31 money laundering offense 2 (a structuring offense), any property
"involved in a transaction or attempted transaction" in violation of the
statute was forfeitable civilly; 3 but there was no criminal forfeiture
provision for Title 31 offenses in § 982. This meant that the actual money
laundered in a structuring case was forfeitable in a civil action, but not in
a criminal case.
Congress recognized that this statutory structure was irrational and
unworkable. Section 6463 of the Anti-Drug Abuse Act of 198814
amended §§ 981 and 982 to treat Title 18 and Title 31 money laundering
offenses equally for forfeiture purposes and to make the money being
laundered forfeitable in both civil and criminal cases." Thus, the statute
combined subsections 981(a)(1)(A) and (C) into a new (a)(1)(A), making
all "property involved in" any money laundering offense forfeitable in a
civil action, and amending § 982(a)(1) to cover Title 31 cases and make
all "property involved in" the offense forfeitable as part of the criminal
money laundering conviction.
Section 981(a)(1)(A) now provides that "any property involved in a
transaction or attempted transaction in violation of section 5313(a) or
5324(a) of Title 31, or of section 1956 or 1957 of [Title 18], or an%
property traceable to such property" is forfeitable to the United States.
Section 982(a)(1) uses similar language in describing the scope of the
11. S. REP. No. 433, 99th Cong., 2d Sess. 23 (1986). For a general discussion of
the legislative history, see OFFICE OF PROFESSIONAL DEV. AND TRAINING, U.S. DEP'T
OF JUSTICE, MONEY LAUNDERmG: FEDERAL PROSECUTION MANUAL 303-05 (1992).
12. See, e.g., 31 U.S.C. § 5324(a)(3) (Supp. V 1993).
13. 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) (1986).
14. Pub. L. No. 100-690, § 6463, 102 Stat. 4374, 4374 (1988).
15. The legislative history of § 6463 states: "It is the intent of Congress that a
person who conducts his financial transactions in violation of the anti-money laundering
statutes forfeits his right to the property involved regardless of which statutory provisions
he happens to violate." 134 CONG. REc. S17365 (daily ed. Nov. 10, 1988) (statement
of Sen. Biden).
16. 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1) (Supp. V 1993).
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criminal forfeiture statute.' 7 The legislative history of both statutes
makes clear that the term "property involved" is to be broadly defined:
"the term 'property involved' is intended to include the money or other
property being laundered (the corpus), any commissions or fees paid to the
launderer, and any property used to facilitate the laundering offense." 8
Several district courts have reviewed the forfeiture statutes in light of
this legislative history and concluded that, notwithstanding the absence of
any definition of the phrase "property involved" in the statutes themselves,
the statutes should be construed broadly to include not only the profits
earned by the money launderer, but also the actual money laundered, and
any facilitating property. 9
As one court held, such a broad
interpretation is consistent with Congress' evident purpose in 1988 to
expand the scope of the forfeiture statutes to mak6 them more effective
weapons against money laundering than the original 1986 versions had
been.20

H.

ESTABLISHING PROBABLE CAUSE

A. Initial Seizure
Probable cause must be established at various stages in a civil
forfeiture action. First, the forfeiture statute authorizes the government
to initiate a civil action by seizing property with a seizure warrant
obtained in the same manner a search warrant is obtained under Rule 41
of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure.'
Thus, the government
agent must apply for the seizure warrant with an affidavit setting forth the
17. 18 U.S.C. § 982 (Supp. V 1993). The statute applies to several offenses to
which § 981 does not, including 31 U.S.C. § 5316 (1988) (requiring an international
transportation of currency or monetary instruments report (CMIR) to be filed when
transporting or receiving more than $10,000) and 18 U.S.C. § 1960 (Supp. V 1993)
(fining business owners and supervisors who know the business is an illegal money
transmitting business). However, § 981 does allow for some criminal forfeiture under
31 U.S.C. § 5317(c) (Supp. V 1993) (requiring that a CMIR report be filed according

to 31 U.S.C. § 5316).
18. 134 CONG. REc. S17365 (daily ed. Nov. 10, 1988) (statement of Sen. Biden).
19. See United States v. Certain Accounts, 795 F. Supp. 391,396 (S.D. Fla. 1992);
United States v. $477,048.62,754 F. Supp. 1467, 1473 (D. Haw. 1991); see also United
States v. Saccoccia, 823 F. Supp. 994, 1003 (D.R.I. 1993) (property is involved in an
offense if the property was the subject of the offense or the property is proceeds
generated by the offense).
20. See CertainAccounts, 795 F. Supp. at 396 n.10; see also $477,048.62, 754 P.
Supp. at 1472-73.

21. 18 U.S.C. § 981(b)(2) (1988).
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probable cause upon which the agent has based his belief that the property
to be seized is subject to forfeiture.22 This same statute also authorizes
a government agent to seize property without a warrant if the seizure is
incident to a lawful arrest or search,' and the agent has probable cause
to believe that the property is subject to forfeiture. In both instances,
probable cause is determined by the same criteria as are applied in all
search and seizure cases.
Once the property is seized, the government may begin administrative
forfeiture proceedings based on the same probable cause that supported the
initial seizure. Any person claiming an interest in the property may file
a claim and cost bond and force the government to proceed judicially

against the property.'

Alternatively, the government may decide to

forego the initial seizure of the property and commence a judicial forfei-

ture action. In either case, the next step is for the government to file a
complaint in federal district court.
B. Complaintfor Forfeilure

To begin a judicial forfeiture action, the government files a complaint
in the manner described in the Supplemental Rules for Certain Admiralty
and Maritime Claims.' At the same time, it must serve the subject

property with a warrant of arrest in rem, which gives the district court in
rem jurisdiction over the property.'

The complaint must be verified and

22. 18 U.S.C. § 981(b)(1) (1988).
23. Id.; see also 21 U.S.C. § 881(b)(1) (Supp. V 1993) (property used to facilitate
an illegal drug offense can be seized pursuant to a lawful arrest); see, e.g., United States
v. $149,442.43, 965 F.2d 868, 875 (10th Cir. 1992) (holding that firearms, jewelry and
vehicles used to facilitate illegal drug offenses were legally seized pursuant to 21 U.S.C.
§ 881(b)(1)).
24. See 19 U.S.C. § 1608 (1988).
25. See FED. R. Civ. P. C(2) (Supplemental Rules for Certain Admiralty and
Maritime Claims) (requiring that the complaint be verified, describe with particularity
that the property is located or will be located in the district during the proceeding, and,
if the seizure is pursuant to a violation of a federal statute, that the complaint also state
the place of the seizure and contain allegations required by the statute); FED. R. Cirv. P.
E(1) (Supplemental Rules for Certain Admiralty and Maritime Claims) (requiring that the
complaint state the circumstances from which the claim arises such that, without moving
for a more definite statement, a defendant or claimant can investigate the claim and
prepare an appropriate answer).
26. FED. R. Civ. P. C(3) (Supplemental Rules for Certain Admiralty and Maritime

Claims).
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must set forth, with particularity, the probable cause supporting forfeiture
of the property.?
The standard for probable cause in the complaint is the same as the
standard that applies to seizure warrants." As recited in virtually every

civil forfeiture case, the government must have "reasonable grounds" for
believing that the property is subject to forfeiture that is supported by
more than "mere suspicion. "21 One court recently stated that the
probable cause standard "requires courts to make a practical, common
sense decision whether, given all the circumstances, there is a fair
probability that the property to be forfeited was involved in or the subject

of a transaction that fits within § 1956 or § 1957."'

Very often, the

government satisfies the probable cause requirement in the complaint by

incorporating an agent's affidavit.31

1. Substantial Connection Requirement
The courts in money laundering cases have required that the government establish a "substantial connection" between the property subject to

forfeiture and the illegal money laundering transaction.

This concept

appears nowhere in the text of § 981 or § 982 or in the legislative history
27. FED. R. CiV. P. E(2) (Supplemental Rules for Certain Admiralty and Maritime
Claims).
28. United States v. $149,442.43, 965 F.2d 868, 876 (10th Cir. 1992); United
States v. Lot 9, Block 2 of Donnybrook Place, 919 F.2d 994, 998 (5th Cir. 1990).
29. Marine Midland Bank, N.A. v. United States, 11 F.3d 1119, 1126 (2d Cir.
1993); $149,442.43, 965 F.2d at 876 (stating that "the government must demonstrate a
reasonable ground for belief of guilt supported by less than a prima facie proof, but more
than mere suspicion"); Donnybrook Place, 919 F.2d at 998 (stating that the test is
"whether the government has provided a reasonable ground for believing that the house
was used for illegal purposes"); United States v. $200,000, 805 F. Supp. 585, 589 (N.D.
I11. 1992); United States v. Accounts Maintained at Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner &
Smith, 801 F. Supp. 984, 989 (E.D.N.Y. 1992), affd sub nom. United States v.
Daccarett, 6 F.3d 37 (2d Cir. 1993), cert. denied, 114 S. Ct. 1294 (1994); United States
v. A Certain Parcel of Land, Moultonboro, 781 F. Supp. 830, 833 (D.N.H. 1992).
30. United States v. 1987 Mercedes Benz 300E, 820 F. Supp. 248, 251 (B.D. Va.
1993).
31. See $200,000, 805 F. Supp. at 589.
32. United States v. 1989 Jaguar XJ6, No. 92-C-1491, 1993 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
6583, at *5 (N.D. IM. May 12, 1993); United States v. Inventories of Khalife Bros.
Jewelry and Gold Corp., 806 F. Supp. 648, 650-51 (E.D. Mich. 1992); United States
v. Swank Corp., 797 F. Supp. 497, 500 (E.D. Va. 1992); United States v. Certain
Accounts, 795 F. Supp. 391, 395 (S.D. Fla. 1992). But see United States v. Daccarett,
6 F.3d 37, 55 (2d Cir. 1993) (government must demonstrate only a "nexus" and not a
"substantial connection").
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but has been adopted from drug forfeiture cases that require a showing of

connection" to support the forfeiture of facilitating
a "substantial
3
property. 3
The meaning of the phrase "substantial connection" is uncertain.
Some courts require only that there be "more than an incidental

connection between the property and the illegal activity,"' while others
hold that the test must be more rigorous.'

Another court simply

observed that as the property in question "becomes more distant from the
initial illegal transaction, so too does the basis for forfeiture become more

attenuated."I But it is clear that the courts are determined to place some
limitation on the broad language of the forfeiture statutes.37

As in all search and seizure cases, probable cause for the complaint
is based on the aggregate of all facts known to the agent. 38 The
33. See, e.g., Khaljfe Bros., 806 F. Supp. at 650 n.6 (stating that "there is no

reason to conclude that the Sixth Circuit would apply a different standard to a
government forfeiture action solely because it was brought under a different forfeiture
statute").
34. Swank Corp., 797 F. Supp. at 500; see also United States v. 916 Douglas Ave.,
903 F.2d 490, 494 (7th Cir. 1990) (stating that "the government must only demonstrate
that the nexus is more than incidental or fortuitous" in forfeitures of property used to
facilitate illegal drug activity).
35. See, e.g., United States v. 7715 Betsy Bruce Lane, 906 F.2d 110, 112-13 (4th
Cir. 1990) (stating that "the evidence must demonstrate that there was a substantial
connection between the property and the underlying criminal activity"). The same court
later defined "substantial connection" as requiring that "human agency somehow...
bear[s] responsibility for the property's 'use' for or 'facilitation' of crime." United
States v. Two Tracts of Real Property, 998 F.2d 204, 212 (4th Cir. 1993).
36. CertainAccounts, 795 F. Supp. at 398.

37. Another way in which the courts may attempt to limit the scope of money
laundering forfeitures is under the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment.
See Austin v. United States, 113 S. Ct. 2801 (1993); United States v. Taylor, 13 F.3d
786, 790 (4th Cir. 1994) (holding Austin applicable to § 981 forfeitures). So far,
however, courts have sustained money laundering forfeitures against Eighth Amendment
challenges. See United States v. Myers, 21 F.3d 826, 830-31 (8th Cir. 1994) (holding
that a forfeiture of an entire farm containing a marijuana growing operation pursuant to
18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1) and 21 U.S.C. § 853(a)(2), did not violate the Excessive Fines
Clause), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 72 (1995); United States v. $145,139, 18 F.3d 73, 76
(2d Cir. 1994) (holding that the forfeiture of cash and traveler's checks under 31 U.S.C.
§ 5316 did not violate the Excessive Fines Clause).
38. See United States v. $121,000, 999 F.2d 1503 (11th Cir. 1993) ("It is well
established, both in the law of forfeiture and in other areas of the law, that the probable
cause inquiry is a flexible one in which the court must consider the 'totality of the
circumstances.'"); United States v. 1987 Mercedes 560 SEL, 919 F.2d 327, 331 (5th
Cir. 1990); United States v. $477,048.62, 754 F. Supp. 1467, 1471 (D. Haw. 1991) ("it
is the totality of the circumstances... that leads to a finding of probable cause").
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government need not link the property to a specific money laundering
offense; it is sufficient if the government establishes a link between the
property and illegal money laundering activity generally. 39 Most

important, probable cause may be based on hearsay and other evidence not
usually admissible,' and on the expert opinion of government agents
familiar with money laundering operations. 4"
The simplest money laundering case is one involving "structuring"

cash deposits or withdrawals in amounts slightly less than $10,000 so that
the bank or other financial institution is not required to file a Currency
Transaction Report (CTR) with the Internal Revenue Service.42
Structuring is a federal offense, and the property involved in a structuring

offense is forfeitable.'u In United States v. $200,000," the government,
through an agent's affidavit, established reasonable grounds for belief that

the claimants had engaged in structured transactions by showing the
39. See United States v. Daccarett, 6 F.3d 37, 47 (2d Cir. 1993); United States v.
92 Buena Vista Ave., 937 F.2d 98, 104 (3d Cir. 1991), aff'd on other grounds, 113 S.
Ct. 1126 (1993); United States v. 1933 Commonwealth Ave., 913 F.2d 1, 3 (1st Cir.
1990); United States v. Parcels of Land, 903 F.2d 36, 38-39 (1st Cir. 1990), cert.
denied, 498 U.S. 916 (1990); United States v. 11 Vehicles, 836 F. Supp. 1147, 1154
(E.D. Pa. 1993); United States v. Property Located on Hanson Brook, 770 F. Supp. 722,
725 (D. Me. 1991).
40. See United States v. 4492 S. Livonia Rd., 889 F.2d 1258, 1267-68 (2d Cir.
1989); United States v. 1987 Mercedes Benz 300E, 820 F. Supp. 248, 251 (E.D. Va.
1993); United States v. $200,000, 805 F. Supp. 585,589 (N.D. I. 1992); United States
v. Accounts Maintained at Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, 801 F. Supp. 984,
990 (E.D.N.Y. 1992), aff'd sub nom. United States v. Daccarett, 6 F.3d 37 (2d Cir.
1993), cert. denied, 114 S. Ct. 1294 (1994).
41. Marine Midland Bank, N.A. v. United States, 11 F.3d 1119, 1121, 1126 (2d
Cir. 1993) (United States Postal Inspector's affidavit indicating modus operandi of drug
cartels and markings of postal money orders with defining symbols established probable
cause to seize funds).
42. See Financial Recordkeeping and Reporting of Currency and Foreign
Transactions, 31 C.F.R. § 103 (1994) (describing the reporting requirements for cash
transfers in excess of $10,000 conducted through a financial institution). The regulation
requires a report to be filed for "each deposit, withdrawal, exchange of currency or other
payment or transfer, by, through, or to" a financial institution. Id. § 103.22(a)(1). A
financial institution includes banks, brokers or dealers in securities, and currency dealers
and exchangers. Id. § 103.11(i). The report must be filed with the Commissioner of the
Internal Revenue Service within 15 days of the day following the transaction. Id. §
103.27(a). A financial institution is required to verify and record the name, address, and
social security number of the person presenting the transaction. Id. 103.28(a)(1).
43. 31 U.S.C. § 5324(a)(3) (Supp. V 1993). Property involved in violations of this
statute is forfeitable under 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(A) (Supp V. 1993).
44. 805 F. Supp. 585 (N.D. IMI.1992).
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claimants bought a house with $20,000 in cash and thirty-six cashier's
checks in amounts of less than $10,000'
Similarly, in United States v.
A Certain Parcelof Land, Moultonboro,4 the government, again through
an agent's affidavit, established that the claimants had purchased a parcel
of real property by depositing $130,000 in cash with a real estate company
in amounts less than $10,000 so that the realtor's deposits into its bank
account would not require the bank to file CTRs. 47 And in United States
v. $81,990.47,1 the government established probable cause to seize a
bank account by showing the claimant made eighteen cash deposits of
$9500 over a six-month period.49
The government established probable cause that property was subject
to forfeiture in a somewhat more sophisticated money laundering scheme
in United States v. Property Located on Hanson Brook.' In that case,
the agent's affidavit established that the real property was purchased by a
fugitive drug trafficker who used a series of aliases."1 This evidence
supported a reasonable belief that the property had been purchased with
drug proceeds in a manner calculated to conceal or disguise the nature,
source, ownership or control of the purchase money, in violation of the
federal money laundering statute.52
Finally, the government established probable cause for forfeiture in
a highly complex international money laundering scheme in United States
v. Accounts Maintained at Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith.5'
There, through a forensic accountant, the government established that the
money in a group of New York bank accounts held by Colombian textile
merchants was traceable to an account in the Channel Islands that was
controlled by an operative of the Cali Cartel who had been arrested in
Luxembourg. s The accountant further traced the money in the Channel
Islands account back to an account in Panama controlled by the in-laws of
45. Id. at 589-90.
46. 781 F. Supp. 830 (D.N.H. 1992).
47. Id. at 832.
48. No. 3:92-117, 1992 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 19002 (D. Conn. Nov. 25, 1992).
49. Id. at *7; see also United States v. 1988 Oldsmobile Cutlass Supreme, 983 F.2d
670, 675 (5th Cir. 1993) (cars purchased with cashier's checks just less than $10,000
were forfeitable as violations of structuring laws).
50. 770 F. Supp. 722 (D. Me. 1991).
51. Id. at 725-26.
52. Id. at 728. The statute at issue was 18 U.S.C. § 1956 (1988 & Supp. V 1993).
53. 801 F. Supp. 984 (E.D.N.Y. 1992), affd sub nom. United States v. Daccarett,
6 F.3d 37 (2d Cir. 1993), cert. denied, 114 S. Ct. 1294 (1994).
54. Id. at 988, 992.
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the leader of the Cali organization.5' Thus, notwithstanding the lack of
involvement of the Colombian merchants in the underlying criminal
activity, the government was able to establish probable cause that the
property in the New York accounts was involved in international money
laundering in violation of United States law.'
2. Relating the Property to the Elements of Money Laundering
Is there a simple test or coherent theory that would establish whether
a given asset that appears to be "involved in" a money laundering offense
is sufficiently connected to the illegal transaction to be subject to
forfeiture? In other words, is there a way to distinguish between property
that is fortuitously present at the scene of a crime and property that is
integrally related to the commission of the offense? Although there will
always be a twilight area, an examination of the cases decided under
§§ 981 and 982 suggests a useful rule for the majority of cases.
This rule relates the subject property to the elements of the money
laundering offense upon which the forfeiture is based. If the property was
integral to the commission of an element of money laundering, it must
have been "involved in" and "substantially connected" to the offense. But
if the property was not so integrally involved in the money laundering
offense, it will be much more difficult for the government to establish the
necessary connection.
For example, money laundering under both federal statutes consists
of conducting a financial transaction involving the "proceeds of specified
unlawful activity"' (SUA). The SUA proceeds are the corpus delicti of
the offense and obviously would be "property involved in" the money
laundering offense for the purposes of the forfeiture statutes.58 Similarly,
under the money laundering "sting" statute,59 the offense is the
laundering of property "represented... to be the proceeds" of a crime.
Thus, the "sting" money is the corpus delicti property, and an amount of
money equal to the sting money laundered is forfeitable from the
launderer.' These examples illustrate what Congress meant when it said
55. Id.
56. Id.

57. 18 U.S.C. §§ 1956(a)(1), 1957(a) (1988).
58. See United States v. Saccoccia, 823 F. Supp. 994, 1004-07 (D.R.I. 1993).
59. 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(3) (1988).
60. See United States v. $814,254.76, No. CIV 92-659, slip op. at 8-9 (D. Ariz.
Jan. 10, 1994) (amount of money equivalent to sting money laundered in violation of 18
U.S.C. § 1956(a)(3) was forfeitable in civil case under 18 U.S.C. § 984), appeal
docketed, No. 94-15149 (9th Cir. Jan. 25, 1994).
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that the "actual money laundered" was forfeitable as "property involved

in" the offense.6"

In a money laundering case, the amount forfeitable is not limited to
corpus delicti property.

If, for example, the financial transaction!' in

question is the use of illegally derived funds to make a payment on a car,
the car is clearly "involved in" the financial transaction and subject to
forfeiture. As one court held, even if only one of the payments on the car
constituted a money laundering offense while other payments were made

with legitimate funds, the car is forfeitable.' The issue is whether the
asset was integrally related to the commission of the money laundering
offense. If so, the property is subject to forfeiture regardless of what
other legitimate purposes it might have served or what other legitimate

funds might have been used to acquire it.
There are, of course, many ways in which a money laundering
"transaction" may be conducted. Merely transporting cash in the trunk
of a car may, in certain circumstances, constitute a financial transaction
for money laundering purposes." In such cases, it would seem that the
vehicle used to conduct the financial transaction is "involved in" the

money laundering offense and is subject to forfeiture.'
Most cases in which facilitating property has been found subject to
forfeiture as "property involved in" a money laundering offense have been
those in which the property in question was an integral part of the
61. 134 CONG. Rac. S17365 (daily ed, Nov 10, 1988) (statement of Sen. Biden);
see supratext accompanying note 18.
62. See 18 U.S.C. § 1957(f)(1) (Supp. V 1993). Even though the statute uses the
term "monetary transaction," the different terminology is not material to the forfeiture
issue.
63. See United States v. 1987 Mercedes Benz 300E, 820 F. Supp. 248, 252-53
(E.D. Va. 1993); see also United States v. Hendrickson, 22 F.3d 170 (7th Cir.) (holding
that a dealer who sold gold for $742,555 in drug proceeds in violation of § 1957 forfeits
that sum, not just the profits of the sale), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 209 (1994).
64. See United States v. Gallo, 927 F.2d 815, 822 (5th Cir. 1991); see also United
States v. Dimeck, 24 F.3d 1239, 1246 (10th Cir. 1994) (stating that "the movement of
drug proceeds may constitute a transaction as defined by § 1956(c)(3)" but that the
defendant's "money laundering conviction cannot be supported solely on the basis of his
courier activity because delivery of the money did not result in" a transaction to conceal
the nature, location, source, ownership or control of the illegal proceeds). But see
United States v. Samour, 9 F.3d 531, 536 (6th Cir. 1993) (reversing money laundering
conviction and holding that physical transportation of money does not constitute a
"financial transaction" because Congress enacted 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(2) for this
violation).
65. See United States v. 1989 Jaguar XJ6, 1993 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 6583, at *7 n.2
(N.D. Il. May 12, 1993) (noting that if the car had been used to transport the devices
used to commit the money laundering offense, it would have been subject to forfeiture).
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"conceal or disguise" element of a § 1956 violation. 6 Several courts
have found that "clean" money in a bank account may be forfeited as
"property involved" in a money laundering offense when the clean money
"conceal[ed] or disguise[d]" the nature, source, location or control of
criminally derived funds.'
One court held that "money laundering
largely depends upon the use of legitimate monies to advance or facilitate
the scheme. It is precisely the commingling of tainted funds with
legitimate money that facilitates the laundering and enables it to
continue."' Similarly, "clean" inventory in a business may be forfeited
as "property involved in" an offense when it serves to conceal or disguise
the use of other inventory to launder criminal proceeds through the
business.'
Spending money in a manner calculated to conceal or disguise the true
nature of criminal proceeds can render the property purchased subject to
forfeiture. For example, when a defendant hid criminal proceeds by using
them to pay for the construction of a building, the building and the entire
parcel of land on which it was located were forfeited as "property
involved in" the money laundering offense because the property was
involved in the concealment of the money.'
Finally, an entire business and all of its assets may be forfeited as
"property involved in" a money laundering offense if the business is used
to conceal or disguise the true nature or ownership of the criminal
proceeds being laundered. Thus, when the proceeds of a mail fraud
scheme were "cleared" through corporate bank accounts, there was a
substantial connection between the business and the laundering activity,
and the entire business and its assets were subject to forfeiture.71
66. See 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) (1988) (making it an offense to conduct a
financial transaction knowing the purpose of the transaction is "to conceal or disguise the
nature, the location, the source, the ownership, or the control of the proceeds of
specified unlawful activity").
67. See United States v. Tencer, No. 92-570, 1993 WL 310527, at *3-4 (E.D. La.
Aug. 11, 1993) (legitimate funds were forfeitable because they facilitated the defendant's
criminal activity by providing a cover for illegitimate funds); United States v. Certain
Accounts, 795 F. Supp. 391, 396-97 (S.D. Fla. 1992) (same); United States v. Bank of
N.Y. AccountNo. 01-0-71417, 769 F. Supp. 80, 84-85 (E.D.N.Y. 1991); United States
v. $477,048.62, 754 F. Supp. 1467, 1472-75 (D. Haw. 1991).
68. Bank ofN.Y. Account No. 01-0-71417, 769 F. Supp. at 84-85.
69. See United States v. Inventories of Khalife Bros. Jewelry and Gold Corp., 806
F. Supp. 648, 650 (E.D. Mich. 1992) (following $477,048.62, inventory of jewelry
business was forfeitable as facilitating property).
70. United States v. Leola's Plaza, 814 F. Supp. 468, 479 & n.38 (W.D.N.C.
1993), vacated sub nom. United States v. Marsh, 9 F.3d 1545 (4th Cir. 1993).
71. See United States v. Swank Corp., 797 F. Supp. 497 (E.D. Va. 1992).
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Similarly, a business was forfeitable under § 981 when it used corporate
checks to make a drug trafficker's purchase and improvement of real
property with drug money appear to be legitimate business activity.'
C. Legal Issues
These cases, and others like them, have presented the federal courts
with a variety of issues regarding the scope of the forfeiture statutes and
the kind of proof the government must present to meet its burden of
probable cause. Two of these issues are recurring and are particularly
important.
First, two courts have recently held that the government's showing of
probable cause in a money laundering forfeiture case must encompass not
only the prohibited conduct but also the mental state required by the
relevant statute. For example, because the anti-structuring statute requires
the government to prove that the perpetrator intended to evade the CTR

requirement in a forfeiture case,73 the government cannot simply
establish that certain property is traceable to structured transactions.
Instead, the government also must establish probable cause that the person
conducting the transactions knew of the CTR requirement and acted with

intent to evade it.7' In a straightforward structuring case such as United

States v. $200,000,75 the circumstances surrounding the cash transactions

will provide evidence of the perpetrator's mental state sufficient to satisfy

the probable cause requirement even though the claimant attempts to

justify his conduct.76 The situation will be more complicated in cases

72. SeeUnited States v. 155 Bemis Rd., 760F. Supp. 245,251 (D.N.H. 1991); see
also United States v. Sonny Cook Motors, 819 F. Supp. 1015, 1018-19 (N.D. Ala. 1993)
(probable cause existed to subject to forfeiture an entire parcel of real property on which
car dealership was located because it was involved in laundering money through the
business); United States v. Assets of Shane Co., 816 F. Supp. 389, 401-02 (M.D.N.C.
1991) (drug proceeds laundered through trucking business rendered business forfeitable);
United States v. South Side Fin., Inc., 755 F. Supp. 791, 797-78 (N.D. Ill. 1991)
(money laundered through bank accounts and business rendered them both forfeitable
under 18 U.S.C. § 981 as property involved in money laundering offense).
73. 31 U.S.C. § 5324 (Supp. V 1993).
74. See United States v. Dollar Bank Money Mkt. Account, 980 F.2d 233, 237 (3d
Cir. 1992) ("If a person were ignorant of the requirements and deposited a large amount
of cash in $9,000 installments, he would not violate section 5324."); United States v.
$200,000, 805 F. Supp. 585, 590 n.12 (N.D. IM. 1992).
75. 805 F. Supp. 585.
76. See Ratzlaf v. United States, 114 S. Ct. 655, 662-63 & n.16 (1994) (holding
that willfulness is an element of the criminal offense of structuring; thus, in criminal
cases, the government must additionally prove that defendant knew his conduct was
illegal. However, the court clearly stated that this requirement does not apply to civil
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involving the multiple mens rea elements in a statute such as 18 U.S.C.
§ 1956. In such cases, prosecutors and agents must draft complaints and
affidavits together to ensure that all elements are covered.
A second issue concerns the forfeitability of the entire contents of a
bank account when the government only has probable cause for a portion
of the funds in that account. In some cases, the government has attempted
to finesse this issue by arguing that what it seeks to forfeit is the account
itself. In those cases, the government argued that finding probable cause
to believe that any funds in an account were forfeitable was equivalent to
finding probable cause to believe that the account itself was forfeitable,
and if the account was forfeitable, everything in the account would have
to be subject to forfeiture as well, regardless of whether it was otherwise
involved in the money laundering scheme.
Three courts have rejected this argument and none have accepted it.77
In United States v. $448,342.85,1 the Seventh Circuit said, "[a]n
'account' is a name, a routing device like the address of a building; the
money is the 'property'. Once we distinguish the money from its
container, it also follows that the presence of one illegal dollar in an
account does not taint the rest."79 Thus, it seems likely that the
government will have to focus on the funds themselves and must return to
the owner all funds for which it did not establish probable cause.
1. Cases in Which "Clean" Property Is Forfeited
To establish probable cause with respect to an entire account balance,
however, the government need not show that all the funds are directly
traceable to the criminal activity. In some cases, the sheer number of
deposits of "dirty" funds into an account may provide probable cause for
seizure of the entire account even if the government can only link a
portion of the funds to specific illegal transactions. For example, in
United States v. Certain Accounts,'0 the court held that deposits of
numerous money orders in amounts slightly less than $10,000 into an
forfeiture structuring offenses.); see also United States v. A Certain Parcel of Land,
Moultonboro, 781 F. Supp. 830, 833 (D.N.H. 1992) (because 18 U.S.C. § 981 requires
only a showing of a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 5324, the willfulness element of 18 U.S.C.
§ 5322 is not required).
77. See United States v. $448,342.85, 969 F.2d 474, 476 (7th Cir. 1992); United
States v. Accounts Maintained at Am. Express Bank, 832 F. Supp. 542, 561-62
(E.D.N.Y. 1993); United States v. Great E. Bank Account No. 11008117, 804 F. Supp.
444, 448 (E.D.N.Y. 1992).
78. 969 F.2d at 476 (7th Cir. 1992).
79. Id.
80. 795 F. Supp. 391 (S.D. Fla. 1992).
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account was sufficient to establish probable cause for the forfeiture of the
entire account even though the balance in the account exceeded the total
amount of the money orders that the government had identified.81 In
such a case, when the government establishes probable cause, the burden
shifts to the claimant to prove the funds in the account had a legitimate
source. This is precisely what happened in $448,342.85 despite the
court's rejection of the government's argument that the account itself was
subject to forfeiture."
In a number of cases, the government has established that probable
cause existed to believe that an entire balance in a bank account was
involved in a money laundering offense by showing that the "clean"
money in the account facilitated the laundering of the "dirty" money.'
The theory in such cases is that by commingling the "clean" money with
the "dirty" money, the launderer was able "to conceal or disguise the
nature, the location, the source, the ownership, or the control of the

proceeds of specified unlawful activity."" In fact, the facilitation theory

has been applied not only to clean funds in a bank account, but to entire

businesses that facilitate money laundering and all of their assets' and
real property.

6

The facilitation theory will not work, however, when the government
is unable to explain how the "clean" funds or property made the money

laundering activity any easier to commit or any more difficult to discover.

For example, in United States v. Great Eastern Bank Account No.

11008117,s' the government had probable cause to believe that numerous
structured deposits in amounts less than $10,000 had been made into a

81. Id. at 397.
82. 969 F.2d 474, 477 (7th Cir. 1992); see also United States v. On Leong Chinese
Merchants Ass'n Bldg., 918 F.2d. 1289, 1292 (7th Cir. 1990), cert. denied, 112 S. Ct.
52 (1991); United States v. Edwards, 885 F. Supp. 377, 389-90 (7th Cir. 1989).
83. United States v. $448,342.85, 969 F.2d 474, 477 (7th Cir. 1992); see United
States v. Certain Accounts, 795 F. Supp. 391, 397 (S.D. Fla. 1992) (indicating that by
operation of the § 981 facilitation theory, if the initial funds deposited into the account
were "involved in" or "traceable to" the money laundering crime, the remainder of the
accountis subject to forfeiture); United States v. $477,048.62, 754 F. Supp. 1467, 147276 (D. Haw. 1991) (sustaining the forfeiture of an entire account balance when more
than $2.5 million was laundered through the account).
84. 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) (1988).
85. United States v. 11 Vehicles, 836 F. Supp. 1147, 1155 (E.D. Pa. 1993); United
States v. Swank Corp., 797 F. Supp. 497, 502 (E.D. Va. 1992).
86. United States v. Myers, 21 F.3d 826, 831 (8th Cir. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S.
Ct. 742 (1995).
87. 804 F. Supp. 444 (E.D.N.Y. 1992).
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bank account in the months preceding the seizure of the account.8 8 In the
days immediately after the seizure, however, the claimant, unaware of the
seizure, deposited an additional $48,000 into the same account in a single
transaction.89 The bank filed a CTR with the notation "Suspicious
Transaction" for the $48,000 deposit.'
When the government was
unable to explain how the deposit of the $48,000 facilitated the structuring
offense that occurred before the seizure, the court held that the
government had not met its probable cause burden with respect to that
portion of the funds in the account and ordered its return to the
claimant. 91
Even when the government has evidence directly implicating a sum
equal to the entire balance in a bank account in money laundering activity,
it may encounter difficulties in forfeiting the entire sum. In an in rem
action, the government has the right to forfeit only the property actually
involved in criminal activity, or property traceable to it. The government
may not, as it could in a criminal forfeiture case, subject substitute assets
to forfeiture because in civil cases, the property itself is the defendant and
is guilty of the wrongdoing.' Thus, it would make no sense to forfeit
unrelated property just because it belonged to the same owner.
This tracing requirement has caused the government enormous
problems in money laundering forfeiture cases. Suppose, for example,
that a money launderer deposits $100,000 of "dirty" funds into his bank
account on January 1. The government develops overwhelming reason to
believe that the entire $100,000 deposit is forfeitable as property involved
in a money laundering offense and, on February 1, seizes $100,000 from
the same bank account. To the government, the case appears to be a
"slam dunk." The claimant, however, rebuts the probable cause evidence
by demonstrating that his account balance was zero several times during
January. The $100,000 that the government seized on February 1, the
claimant argues, is not the same $100,000 that was deposited at the
beginning of January. Unless the government can trace the money seized
in February to the initial deposit, it will fail to satisfy its burden of
establishing probable cause for the forfeiture of the seized money and must
return it to the claimant.
88. Id. at 447.

89. Id.
90. Id.
91. Id. at 447-48. The court said: "[C]ausing the filing of a CTR hardly serves to
hide the structured transactions. If anything, it subjects the account to closer scrutiny and
make [sic] it more likely that the government would discover the structuring." id; see
also United States v. Accounts Maintained at Am. Express Bank, 832 F. Supp. 542, 56162 (E.D.N.Y. 1993).
92. Accounts Maintained at Am. Express Bank, 832 F. Supp. at 556.
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In United States v. $477,048.62,93 the government traced $2.5
million in laundered drug money into a bank account.' When federal
authorities seized the account, the balance was approximately $477,000.
The balance in the account between the time the deposits were made and
the time of the seizure, however, had at one time dropped as low as

$242,012. 9

Therefore, because of the "lowest intermediate balance"

rule,' the government was able to establish probable cause for forfeiture

only of the $242,012 as property traceable to a money laundering offense.
Ultimately, however, the government established probable cause for the

forfeiture of the balance under a facilitation theory. 7
In 1992, Congress alleviated this problem to some extent by enacting
18 U.S.C. § 984. This statute provides that in a money laundering case
involving fungible property such as money in a bank account, the

government may satisfy its probable cause burden with respect to the
funds in the account without having "to identify the specific property

involved in the offense that is the basis for the forfeiture."'

The statute

also provides that a claimant may not, as part of his affirmative defense,

assert that the property involved in the money laundering offense "has
been removed and replaced by identical property."'
However, these
provisions only apply to "property found in the same place or account" as
the property involved in the money laundering offense," ° and only
where the seizure occurs within one year of the date of the offense."'
93. 754 F. Supp. 1467 (D. Haw. 1991).
94. Id. at 1476.
95. Id.
96. See United States v. Banco Cafetero Pan., 797 F.2d 1154, 1159 (2d Cir. 1986)
(adapting the "lowest intermediate balance" rule used to trace commingled funds in the
areas of trusts and secured transactions to an in rem civil forfeiture proceeding whereby
withdrawals from the account are first deducted from clean funds).
97. $477,048.62, 754 F. Supp. at 1476.
98. 18 U.S.C. § 984(b)(1)(A) (Supp. V 1993).
99. 18 U.S.C. § 984(b)(1)(B) (Supp. V 1993); see, e.g., United States v. Accounts
Maintained at Am. Express Bank, 832 F. Supp. 542, 557-58 (E.D.N.Y. 1993)
(concluding that, with respect to actual money laundered, the statute overrules Banco
Cafetero Panama).
100. 18 U.S.C. § 984(b)(2) (Supp. V 1993).
101. 18 U.S.C. § 984(c) (Supp. V 1993); Accounts Maintained at Am. Express
Bank, 832 F. Supp. at 559 (stating that "[o]nly if the action involvesffungible property
is it subject to the one-year limit").
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One court recently held that § 984 applies retroactively. 1"

It also

held that § 984 could be used to seize from a money launderer's bank
account an amount of money equal to the amount of undercover "sting"

money that had been laundered through that account as part of an

undercover operation. 1" In that case, a foreign bank claimed that it was
exempt from the provisions of § 984 by virtue of the exclusion pertaining
to "interbank accounts" maintained at one bank by another bank. 4 The
court held, however, that because the foreign bank's employees were
themselves involved in the money laundering scheme, the interbank

account exception did not apply.1"5

2. Cases in Which the Substantial Connection Was Lacking
The cases in which courts have declined to order forfeiture under §§
981 and 982 illustrate how the absence of a relationship between the
property in question and one of the elements of the money laundering
offense can lead to the failure to satisfy the "substantial connection"

requirement. For example, property acquired by the money launderer
before the money laundering offense occurs" or after it is
completed" cannot be forfeited. Nor can property that merely affords
the launderer a means of transportation to the scene of the crime."' In
102. See United States v. $814,254.76, No. CIV 92-659, slip op. at *9-*10 (D.
Ariz. Jan. 10, 1994) (finding as a matter of law that the Ex Post Facto clause is
inapplicable because the forfeiture statute is not per se criminal in nature), appeal
docketed, No. 94-15149 (9th Cir. Jan. 25, 1994).
103. Id. at *8.
104. 18 U.S.C. § 984(d) (Supp. V 1993).
105. $814,254.76, No. CIV 92-659, at *11-*14.
106. United States v. Swank Corp., 797 F. Supp. 497, 500 (E.D. Va. 1992) ("The
government does not disagree with Swank's contention that the assets held by Swank in
his individual capacity and acquired prior to 1987 have no 'substantial connection' with
Mr. Swank's alleged illegal activity.").
107. United States v. Great E. BankAccountNo. 11008117, 804 F. Supp. 444, 448
(E.D.N.Y. 1992) (rejecting the government's claim that the account itself was subject to
forfeiture by noting that "the government conceded in oral argument that legitimate funds
deposited in the account after seizure are not subject to forfeiture").

108. See United States v. 1989 Jaguar XJ6, 1993 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 6583, at *6
(N.D. Ill. May 12, 1993) (holding that an automobile used to drive to and from the scene
of a crime does not meet the § 981 "substantial connection" requirement and was thus
not subject to forfeiture). But see United States v. 1990 Toyota 4Runner, 9 F.3d 651,

654 (7th Cir. 1993) (holding that an automobile driven to the scene of a drug sale
negotiation was forfeitable as facilitating property under 21 U.S.C. § 881(a)(4) (Supp.
V 1993)).
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neither case does the property have anything to do with one of the
essential elements of the offense.
Cases involving "structuring" violations best illustrate this point. The
structuring statute makes it an offense to conduct cash transactions in

amounts less than $10,000 for the purpose of evading the currency
transaction reporting requirements. 1°

Sections 981 and 982 provide for

forfeiture of property involved in structuring violations; therefore, any
money traceable to structured sub-$10,000 transactions is subject to
forfeiture.110 Generally, the government has not been successful in
establishing that funds in an account into which structured deposits are
made, but which are not themselves traceable to structured deposits, are
subject to forfeiture under a facilitation theory."'

The reason for this adverse result in structuring cases is that, in

contrast to § 1956 cases, concealing and disguising the nature or source

of the funds involved in the transaction is not an element of the offense."1

The crime in structuring cases is simply the conduct of a cash

transaction with the intent to evade a reporting requirement. Whereas
clean money in an account might "conceal or disguise" the offense by
masking the true nature of the transaction in a § 1956 case, it is not
evident how the presence of clean money makes it any easier to commit
a structuring violation unless the government can show that the presence
of the clean money
somehow made the structuring offense itself more
11 3

difficult to detect.

This does not mean that it is impossible for the government to

establish a substantial connection between property and a money
laundering offense without showing that the property was integrally related

to an element of the crime. Property that provides transportation to a
109. 31 U.S.C. § 5324(a)(3) (Supp. V 1993).
110. See United States v. Saccoccia, 823 F. Supp. 994, 1005 (D.R.I. 1993); United
States v. Certain Accounts, 795 F. Supp. 391, 396-97 (S.D. Fla. 1992).
111. See Marine Midland Bank, N.A. v. United States, 11 F.3d 1119, 1124-25 (2d
Cir. 1993) (untainted funds in interbank account used to "clear" structured money orders
not forfeitable under facilitation theory); United States v. Accounts Maintained at Am.
Express Bank, 832 F. Supp. 542, 562 (E.D.N.Y. 1993) (funds in account into which
structured deposit was made were forfeitable); Great E. Bank Account No. 11008117,
804 F. Supp. at 447 (legitimate funds in bank account do not facilitate structuring). But
see CertainAccounts, 795 F. Supp. at 397 (holding that the government had properly
seized an entire account balance into which a large number of structured deposits were
made).
112. See Great E. Bank Account No. 11008117, 804 F. Supp. at 447.
113. See id. at 446-47; United States v. $448,342.85, 969 F.2d 444, 476 (7th Cir.
1992) (stating that "the presence of one illegal dollar in an account does not taint the
rest").
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crime scene or a location where planning may occur may be found to be
"involved in" an offense if the property is used repeatedly and extensively
to facilitate the commission of a number of offenses over time." 4 Such
externalfacilitation of money laundering will require a substantial showing
by the government, whereas property shown to be integrally related to an
element of the offense should easily satisfy the substantial connection
test.115
D. ProceduralIssues
In a civil forfeiture case, the government must establish probable
1 " Nevertheless, probable cause issues can
cause for forfeiture at trial."
arise at a number of stages of a civil forfeiture prosecution.
First, a claimant may challenge the probable cause for the initial
seizure by filing a motion for the return of seized property." 7 The
government must return the property if the claimant was unlawfully
deprived of the property."' However, numerous courts have held that
such a motion is not the appropriate device for resolving probable cause
issues once the government has taken the formal step of commencing
either an administrative or a judicial forfeiture action. 9 This is because
the criminal rules do not apply to civil forfeiture actions, and such actions,
114. Cf. Alexanderv. United States, 113 S. Ct. 2766, 2776 (1993) (suggesting the
extent of a criminal activity and the duration of that activity should be considered in
determining whether a forfeiture is excessive); United States v. 1990 Toyota 4Runner,
9 F.3d 651 (7th Cir. 1993).
115. One question unanswered by the case law is whether property that facilitates
the commission of the "specified unlawful activity" underlying the money laundering
offense, but not the money laundering itself, is "involved in" the money laundering. One
court answered this question in the affirmative, presumably becauseproof of the specified
unlawful activity is an element of money laundering under §§ 1956 and 1957. See United
States v. Assets of Blue Chip Coffee, Inc., 836 F. Supp. 104, 107 (E.D.N.Y. 1993).
116. See Marine Midland Bank, N.A. v. United States, 11 F.3d 1119, 1124 (2d Cir.
1993) (stating that the government "is not required to demonstrate probable cause until
a forfeiture trial"); see also United States v. Banco Cafetero Pan., 797 F.2d 1154, 1163
(2d Cir. 1986) (holding that "appellants are not entitled to an immediate probable cause
hearing in advance of the forfeiture trial"); United States v. Accounts Maintained at Am.
Express Bank, 832 F. Supp. 542, 563 (E.D.N.Y. 1993) ("It is worth emphasizing that
as to any funds seized in a timely fashion, the government need not establish probable
cause for that forfeiture at any time prior to trial.").
117. See FED. R. CRIM. P. 41(e).
118. Id.
119. See, e.g., United States v. Elias, 921 F.2d 870,872-75 (9th Cir. 1990); United
States v. Price, 914 F.2d 1507, 1511 (D.C. Cir. 1990) (per curiam).
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once commenced, divest the court of jurisdiction over the motion. 1
Thus, claimants' motions seldom result in a ruling on the merits of the
probable cause issue, but instead serve as an incentive for the government
to commence its forfeiture action promptly. The Second Circuit recently
held, however, that even after the judicial forfeiture proceeding is
commenced, the claimant may file a motion for the release of seized
property, and the property will be returned if the government lacked
probable cause for the initial seizure.'
However, a finding that the government lacked probable cause for the
initial seizure-whether that finding is made in response to a claimant's
motion or later in response to a motion for the release of seized property,
a motion to dismiss the complaint, a motion for summary judgment, or at
trial-does not necessarily preclude the government from proceeding with
the forfeiture action. Because the exclusionary rule applies to civil forfeiture cases, any property seized illegally, and any property derived from

it, may not be used by the government at trial.'

This parallels the rule

in criminal cases that no evidence derived from the illegal arrest of a

defendant may be used against the defendant at trial.

But just as a

defendant who has been illegally arrested may nevertheless be prosecuted

on the basis of untainted evidence, property that has been illegally seized
may be subject to forfeiture if the seizure is based on untainted

evidence. 12

Because probable cause is determined at trial, moving to dismiss a
forfeiture complaint for failure to allege probable cause generally will not
benefit the claimant. The claimant simply is not entitled to a hearing on
120. Price, 914 F.2d at 1511.
121. MarineMidlandBank, 11 F.3d at 1124-25 (affmning the district court's ruling
that the government lacked probable cause to seize the balance of an interbank account).
122. See United States v. $53,082, 985 F.2d 245 (6th Cir. 1993) (holding that
evidence discovered by a dog sniff was inadmissible in the forfeiture case because the
evidence was the fruit of an illegal search); United States v. $639,588, 955 F.2d 712
(D.C. Cir. 1992) (dismissing the case when the government had no evidence to establish
probable cause other than drug residue on seized currency, and currency had been seized
illegally from claimant's luggage).
123. See United States v. Assets of Statewide Auto Parts, Inc., 971 F.2d 896, 905
(2d Cir. 1992) (upholding a seizure of an ongoing business that occurred without proper
notice on the grounds that the corporation produced no evidence rebutting the
government's basis for the seizure); United States v. 92 Buena Vista Ave., 937 F.2d 98,
101 (3d Cir. 1991) (upholding seizure of a home that occurred without notice because
probable cause was established by permissible evidence), aff'd on other grounds, 113 S.
Ct. 1126 (1993); United States v. Property Located on Hanson Brook, 770 F. Supp. 722,
730 (D. Me. 1991) (holding that lack of probable cause for a seizure results only in the
suppression of evidence obtained during the illegal seizure and does not bar the forfeiture
action); United States v. 155 Bemis Rd., 760 F. Supp. 245,251 (D.N.H. 1991) (same).
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the probable cause issue until the trial beginsY'2 When "no set of facts"

exist for the government to establish that it had probable cause to believe
that the subject property was "involved in" a money laundering offense,

a motion to dismiss should be granted."z

In most money laundering cases in which a claimant has attempted to

challenge the government's probable cause evidence before trial, the
motion to dismiss the complaint has been denied. 1"

For example, in

United States v. Inventories of Khalife Brothers Jewelry and Gold
Corp.,

the government alleged that the inventory of a jewelry business

had been used to facilitate a money laundering offense."

In a motion

to dismiss the complaint, the claimant asserted that the property subject to
forfeiture had not been seized by the government until eight months after
the money laundering offense occurred." 2 Therefore, the claimant

alleged, the government lacked probable cause to believe that the seized
property was the same property

used to facilitate

the money

laundering."
The court rejected this argument, holding that a motion to dismiss

must be denied if the government's allegations would be sufficient, if
proven at trial to establish probable cause for the forfeiture."' It was
possible, the court said, that the government would be able to establish at
trial that the seized property contained some of the same items of
inventory that had been located on the jeweler's premises when the money
124. United States v. Banco Cafetero Pan., 797 F.2d 1154, 1160 (2d Cir. 1986);
United States v. Great E. Bank Account 11008117, 804 F. Supp. 444, 446 (E.D.N.Y.
1992). But see United States v. Daccarett, 6 F.3d 37, 55 (2d Cir. 1993) (stating that
"[u]nless the claimant challenges the validity of the seizure ... the government is not
called upon to demonstrate probable cause until trial of the forfeiture action").
125. See, e.g., United States v. A Certain Parcel of Land, Moultonboro, 781 F.
Supp. 830, 832-33 (D.N.H. 1992) (discussing the claimant's burden of proof in a motion
to dismiss in an in rem action).
126. See id.; United States v. Inventories of Khalife Bros. Jewelry and Gold Corp.,
806 F. Supp. 648, 651 (E.D. Mich. 1992) (denying motion to dismiss for failure to state
a claim on the ground that there was a reasonable basis to believe that the government
could establish probable cause at trial); HansonBrook, 770 F. Supp. at 728 (same). But
see United States v. $191,910, 16 F.3d 1051, 1066 (9th Cir. 1994) (holding that, under
19 U.S.C. § 1615, the government must have probable cause at the time it files the
complaint).
127. 806 F. Supp. 648 (E.D. Mich. 1992).
128. Id. at 649.
129. Id.
130. Id.
131. Id. at 651.
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laundering offense occurred." Moreover, the government was entitled
to rely on the "aggregation" of facts that it could amass at the time of
trial, and was not limited to the evidence available to it at the time of
seizure.'
Because it was "not beyond doubt" that the government
could "prove no set of facts in support of its claim as is required before
a [motion to dismiss] may be granted," the motion was denied."M
In other cases, however, courts have granted a motion to dismiss or
vacated an arrest warrant when the complaint alleged no set of facts that
could result in the forfeiture of all of the property in a seized bank
account.
In United States v. Great Eastern Bank Account No.
11008117,13 the court vacated the arrest warrant in rem when the
government was unable to offer any basis for its belief that the funds
deposited into the account after it had been seized had been used to
facilitate the structuring offense."
And in United States v. Certain
Accounts,137 the court granted a motion to dismiss when a group of bank
accounts had received only "indirect" transfers from other accounts into
which the structured deposits had been made. "38 The court said that the
mere transfer of funds from one account used by a money launderer to
another account could not, by itself, establish probable cause for a belief
that the entire contents of the second account were forfeitable under a
facilitation theory."'s
Finally, the probable cause issue is most frequently litigated in the
context of a motion for summary judgment. For example, the claimant
may seek summary judgment on the ground that the government's
evidence establishes probable cause with respect to only a portion of the
subject property," 4 or on the ground that certain evidence that is the
132. Id. (quoting United States v. $67,220, 957 F.2d. 280, 284 (6th Cir. 1992)).
133. Id.
134. Id.
135. 804 F. Supp. 444 (E.D.N.Y. 1992).
136. Id. at 448.
137. 795 F. Supp. 391 (S.D. Fla. 1992).
138. Id. at 398 (holding that the government must "allege facts other than a mere
tracing of checks written against a suspect account"). The court further explained that
money launderers could not "insulate themselves from the forfeiture laws by adding more
layers to their financial network." Id. n.11. Rather, the government must allege
particular facts at each layer, without relying on the interaccount transfers, to support a
finding of probable cause at trial. Id.
139. Id.
140. See, e.g., United States v. $477,048.62, 754 F. Supp. 1467, 1472 (D. Haw.
1991) (claimant concedes probable cause with respect to portion of property, but moves
for summary judgment with respect to remaining portion).
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fruit of an illegal search should be suppressed, and that if the suppression
lack sufficient untainted evidence
motion is granted, the government will141
with which to establish probable cause.
Likewise, the government may seek summary judgment on the
probable cause issue on the ground that the claimant in discovery has not
produced evidence sufficient to negate the reasonable belief that the
property was involved in a money laundering offense. This motion is
often successful because the issue at this stage in the proceeding is simply
whether the government has adduced sufficient probable cause evidence
to shift the burden to the claimant, not whether the claimant will prevail
on his affirmative defense. If the government has adduced such evidence,
it is entitled to summary judgment on the probable cause issue,
notwithstanding the claimant's attempts to explain the evidence away.142
If the motion is granted, the trial will focus on the claimant's ability to
establish an affirmative defense."
Most of the cases in which courts have granted the government's
summary judgment motion on the probable cause issue have been structuring cases in which the pattern of structured transactions alone established
probable cause for forfeiture under the money laundering statute.14' But
the government also has won summary judgment motions in more
In United States v.
sophisticated money laundering cases.
$477,048.62,1 for example, the court granted a motion for summary
judgment when the government's evidence established probable cause for
its belief that all of the money in a bank account was involved in a scheme
to conceal or disguise the nature and source of drug funds being laundered
by the Medellin Cartel." The only caveat is that in cases in which the
underlying money laundering offense includes mens rea elements, the
141. See United States v. $53,082, 985 F.2d 245 (6th Cir. 1993) (granting
claimant's motion for summaryjudgment when evidence from a dog sniff was suppressed
because it was the fruit of an illegal search; the government lacked sufficient untainted
evidence to establish a substantial connection between the currency and the drug
trafficking).
142. See, e.g., United States v. On Leong Chinese Merchants Ass'n Bldg., 918
F.2d 1289, 1292 (7th Cir. 1990), cert. denied, 112 S. Ct. 52 (1991); United States v.
4492 S. Livonia Rd., 889 F.2d 1258, 1269 (2d Cir. 1989); $477,048.62, 754 F. Supp.
at 1476.
143. See, e.g., United States v. Lot 9, Block 2 of DonnybrookPlace, 919 F.2d 994,
999-1000 (5th Cir. 1990); $477,048.62, 754 F. Supp. at 1482.
144. See, e.g., United States v. 1988 Oldsmobile Cutlass Supreme, 983 F.2d 670
(5th Cir. 1993); United States v. $200,000, 805 F. Supp. 585 (N.D. Ill. 1992); United
States v. A Certain Parcel of Land, Moultonboro, 781 F. Supp. 830 (D.N.H. 1992).
145. 754 F. Supp. 1467 (D. Haw. 1991).
146. Id. at 1476.
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government's probable cause evidence must establish those elements as

well as the purely factual requirements.

If there are material issues

regarding the mens rea elements that can be resolved only at trial, the

government's motion for summary judgment on the probable cause issue
may be denied.14

IV. CONCLUSION

The question whether the government is able to establish probable
cause for forfeiture in a money laundering case is a multi-faceted issue
involving both the scope of the money laundering forfeiture statutes and

the manner in which the probable cause issue may be raised. The Asset
Forfeiture Office of the Department of Justice is available to assist law
enforcement agents and prosecutors with respect to these matters.

147. See, e.g., United States v. Scudder Tax Free Inv. Account No. 2505103, 998
F.2d 129, 133 (2d Cir. 1993) (holding that summary judgment was improperly granted
because intent was a genuine issue of fact); United States v. Dollar Bank Money Mkt.
Account No. 1591768456, 980 F.2d 233 (3d Cir. 1992) (denying a summary judgment
when there was material issue as to claimant's mental state in a structuring case).

